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On behalf of the Board of Directors of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) 
Berhad, I am pleased to present the Annual Report and the 
Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2004.

Operating Results

The Company recorded a healthy growth after a challenging 
2003.

Turnover increased by 8.7% or RM13.1 million to RM164.1 
million and Net Profits increased by 8.0% from RM12.1 
million to RM13.1 million. The increase in revenue was 
primarily due to an increase in sales volume. It was the 
culmination of the introduction of new products, renovation 
and innovation of existing product lines, trade and consumer 
promotions and efforts in distribution improvements. 
However Operating Profits reflected only a marginal increase 
due to lower selling price arising from the intense and 
protracted price competition in the market, higher marketing 
and selling expenses, and higher operating cost.

Operational Review

During the financial year ended March 2004, the economy   
improved after the events of the Middle East and Severe Acute 
Respiratory Syndrome (“SARS”). Consumer base was 
normalized and consumer demand picked-up in the later part 
of 2003. However, competition was intense during this 
period.

                    brand remains central to Ajinomoto’s success 
and enjoy strong local and international recognition and 
acceptance. We will continued to expand the seasonings 
segment based on customers’ solid and continued trust and 
support for the                       brand, while concurrently using 
well-established sales and distribution channels to extend our 
presence in the profitable processed foods sector.

The household name flavour enhancer, AJI-NO-MOTO, 
remains the core product of the Company. The increased 
presence of low-priced imported flavour enhancers, and 
competitive activities within the industry was intense, and 
this in turn affected prices and margins during the period 
under review. This situation is expected to continue to put 
pressure on the marketing of  AJI-NO-MOTO.

Several new and improved products were introduced in 
2003. The extended range introduced in the SERI-AJI 
(“complete mix seasonings”) proved to be a success and 
contributed significantly to the Company's turnover and 
revenue. The Company will continue to extend its product 
mix which will, amongst other things, impact positively on 
the capacity utilisation of the production facilities. More 
product variants are expected to be launched in year 2004.

The established                       brand in the food seasoning 
and enhancer market and industry played an important role 
in the Company's introduction and launch of new products  
during the year 2003.
 

This is further underpinned by the Company's continuing 
extensive market research and product development 
programmes. New product, TUMIX ("cooking base 
seasonings”), for example was successfully launched in 
October 2003 with three variants, viz. Chicken, Shrimp and 
Ikan Bilis.

Providing safe and quality products to our valued customers 
is given prime importance by the Company. As for our 
shareholders, many of whom are also our customers, we like 
to assure you that we review plans and strategies periodically 
for the continued growth and development of the Company 
and its business.

Prospect

Food business will remain highly competitive. Sales, selling 
prices and market share will continue to come under 
pressure. New product launches, brand building activities, 
numerous marketing activities and trade promotions will be 
continued in order to further strenghten our market 
leadership position by keeping in pace with consumer trends. 
Barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Company expects  
improvements in shareholder value in the coming year.

Dividend

The Board, after taking into consideration the Company’s 
funding requirements for operational and strategic needs, 
recommends a First and Final dividend comprised of tax 
exempt dividend of 5 sen per share and 4 sen less 28% tax 
per share.  The above dividends are subject to shareholders’ 
approval.

Appreciation

Since the last Annual General Meeting, Mr. Katsuyuki Inoue 
and Mr. Osamu Sekiguchi had resigned from the Board. The 
Board wishes to record its appreciation to each of them for 
their invaluable contributions and guidance to the Company. 
On behalf of the Board, I would like to welcome Mr. Kenji 
Fukami and Mr. Keizo Kawamoto who were appointed to the 
Board on 15 July 2004 as Executive Directors. 

Equally, I wish to take this opportunity, on behalf of the Board 
and Management of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad, to thank 
our valued customers and consumers for their continued 
patronage; our suppliers, distributors and other business 
partners, for their invaluable support; and our shareholders, 
for their confidence in Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad. I also 
wish to express the Board’s appreciation to the Management 
and all the employees of the Company for their continued 
efforts, commitment and dedication.

Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin 
Mohd. Ali
Chairman of the Board

Chairman's Statement
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Directors’ Profile

  Gen ( R ) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali

 Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 69 years of age – Malaysian.

Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali was appointed Chairman of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 5 
September 1995. He is a member of the Audit Committee. He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of 
the Nomination Committee. He attended all five Board meetings held in the financial year.

He holds a Diploma In Advance Management from the Harvard Business School and was conferred the Honorary Doctorate by 
the University of Salford, United Kingdom in January 1999.
 
He joined the Malaysian Armed Forces in 1953 and was first commissioned in the Royal Malay Regiment in 1956 after attending a 
series of Military Officer Cadet Courses both in Malaysia and overseas. He has served for 38 years and 9 months before retiring in 
April 1992 as the Chief of the Defence Forces. In May 1992, he joined Perwira Niaga Malaysia (PERNAMA) as Chairman. 

He is also the Chairman of Country Height Holdings Berhad Group and sits on the Boards of Arab-Malaysian Corporation Berhad, 
Delloyd Ventures Berhad, Hong Leong Credit Berhad, Konsortium Logistik Berhad, IOI Oleochemical Industries Berhad (formerly 
known as Palmco Holdings Berhad), Mines Golf Resort Berhad (formerly Country Heights Golf Resort Berhad), Pioneer Oscar 
Berhad, Borneo Highlands Hornbill Golf & Jungle Club Berhad and various private companies.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

  Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali

 Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 69 years of age – Malaysian

Takashi Imai

Mr. Imai was appointed as Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director on 12 July 2002. He is a member of  the Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He  attended all five Board meetings held in the financial year. 

He holds a Bachelor of Agriculture degree from the Faculty of Agricultural Economics, University of Tokyo, Japan in 1971.
 
He joined Ajinomoto Co., Inc Japan in 1971 and began his career in the Specialty Chemical Department and has held various 
positions in Japan and overseas within the Ajinomoto Group of Companies. 

He also sits on the Board of Malaysia Packaging Industry Berhad, Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Berhad and Ajinomoto (S) 
Pte Ltd. He is also a member of the Audit Committee of Malaysia Packaging Industry Berhad.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Managing Director – Executive Director 55 years of age – Japanese

   Adinan Bin Husin

   Non-Independent Non-Executive Director  58 years of age – Malaysian

En. Adinan was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 26 July 1991. He is a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee. He is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. He attended all five Board meetings held in 
the financial year.

He is a food technologist by training and holds a Master Degree in Food Science from University Hawaii, USA.

He was Director of Food Technology Centre, MARDI for 10 years and was subsequently appointed Director of Technical Services 
Centre in 1996. Whilst at the post, he was appointed as member of International and National committees which include FAO 
Expert / Consultative Group for Pacific Region Processing, Network for Education and Curriculum Development in Agro-Industries, 
National Coordinator of Small Scale Food Industries Asia, various Food / Agriculture related committees. He is an Expert Panel 
Member for the Intensification Research Priority Areas (IRPA) in food processing for the Ministry of Science Technology and 
Environment. With his experience, involvement and active contribution to the local food industry, Malaysian Institute of Food 
Technology (MIFT) has bestowed on him as a Fellow MIFT in 1999.
 
He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.
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Directors’ Profile (con't)

  Gen ( R ) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali

 Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 69 years of age – Malaysian.

Dato' Professor (Dr) Teo was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 28 June 2001. He was appointed as the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee on 1 November 2002. He is also a member of the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee. He attended all five Board meetings held in the financial year.

Graduated with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in Business Studies and M.Sc in Management & Administration from the 
United Kingdom, Dato’ Teo obtained his training from The Chartered Bank and Pillar Naco Ltd in UK.

Since 1975, he joined and served the See Hoy Chan Group, a well diversified group of companies, in different levels of 
management. He was Secretary General of the Malaysian Association of Private Colleges & Universities from 1997 to March 2003. 
He was appointed as member of the MSC Education Advisory Panel in 1998. He is also a Life Member of the Malaysian Red 
Crescent Society. In 1998, The Nottingham Trent University in UK appointed Dato' Teo as Visiting Professor of the University and 
awarded an honourary degree of Doctor of Business Administration to him in 2001.

He is the non-executive Chairman of Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Berhad and sits on the Board of Senawang Edible Oil 
Sdn Bhd.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

   Dato' Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang

   Independent Non-Executive Director 54 years of age – Malaysian

Dr. Goh was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 28 June 2001. He is a member of the Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He attended all five Board meetings held in the financial year.

Dr. Goh is a medical consultant by profession. He graduated from University of Hong Kong, Medical Faculty in 1964, and was a 
Chan Weng Scholar. He is a fellow of the Royal Australisian College of Physicians (Occupational Medicine) and a member of the 
Academy of Medicine Malaysia. He was the medical director for Hamburg Re-Insurance Company, Germany, and medical director / 
advisor for several local and international insurance companies, besides being a practicing Occupational Health Physician, and 
family physician.

He sits on the Board of Malaysia Packaging Industry Berhad since 1990.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Mr. Fukami was appointed to the Board on 15 July 2004. 

Mr Fukami graduated from the Agricultural Department from Kyusyu University of Japan in 1982.
 
He joined Ajinomoto Co., Inc., Japan in 1982 and began his career in Central Research Laboratories and has held various positions 
in head office until his posting in 2003, to Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad to assume the role of Chief Research and Development 
Officer of the Company.

He also sits on the Board of Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Berhad since 2003.
 
He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

   Kenji Fukami

   Executive Director 45 years of age – Japanese

   Dr. Goh Chin Siew

   Independent Non-Executive Director 67 years of age – Malaysian
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Directors’ Profile (con't)

  Gen ( R ) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali

 Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 69 years of age – Malaysian.

Mr. Kawamoto was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 15 July 2004 and assumed the role of Executive 
Director, Finance of the Company. He is a member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Mr. Kawamoto graduated from the Department of Economics, Yokohama National University, Japan in 1983.

He joined Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Japan in 1983 and began his career with head office, finance department and had served in various 
management capacities with numerous departments in head office, including a five-year secondment as Assistant Treasurer of 
Ajinomoto U.S.A., Inc.

He currently also sits on the Board of Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Berhad and Ajinomoto (S) Pte Ltd.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Tn. Hj. Mazlan was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 10 July 2000. He attended all five Board meetings 
held in the financial year.

Graduated with a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Food Science from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia in 1976, he has attended a 
series of high level technical and management courses both in Malaysia and overseas, particularly in Japan. He is also a qualified 
Internal Auditor for the Environmental Management System.

He joined the Technical Department of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad in 1976. Over the years he moved up the corporate ladder 
and served under various capacities. In 2000, he was appointed as the first local Factory Manager in 36 years' history of the 
Company.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Mr. Gew was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 10 July 2000. He is a member of the Audit Committee. He 
attended all five Board meetings held in the financial year.

He holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accountancy) degree from Nanyang University, Singapore in 1972. He is a Certified Public 
Accountant (Singapore) and an Associate Member of Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants.

He was the Chief Accountant and later promoted to Assistant General Manager of an established food and beverages manufacturing 
and investment holding company. He left the company after 20 years of service and joined Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad in 1995 as 
Senior Sales Manager.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Executive Director 54 years of age – Malaysian

Gew Ah Lek 

Executive Director 52 years of age – Malaysian

Tn. Hj. Mazlan Bin Ab. Rahman 

   Executive Director 44 years of age – Japanese

   Keizo Kawamoto

La
po

ra
n 

Ta
hu

na
n 

20
04

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

6



Directors’ Profile (con't)

  Gen ( R ) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali

 Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 69 years of age – Malaysian.

   Independent Non-Executive Director 66 years of age – Malaysian

Executive Director 41 years of age – Japanese

49 years of age – Japanese

Mr. Yoshikawa was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 31 October 2002 and has attended four out of the 
five Board meetings held in the financial year. 

He holds a Bachelor of Law from the Konan University Kobe, Japan in 1980.
 
He began his career in Ajinomoto Co. Inc., Japan with the Personnel Departments in 1980 and then served in various departments 
in head office and its overseas affiliated companies. In 2002, he was posted to Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad to assume the role of 
Chief Marketing Officer of the Company.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Mr. Umeda was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 31 October 2002 and he has attended all five Board 
meetings held in the financial year.

He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from Hiroshima University of Japan in 1985.
 
He joined Ajinomoto Co., Inc., Japan in 1985 and began his career in the Process Development Laboratories and has held various 
positions in Tokyo, head office and its overseas affiliated companies prior to his posting to Malaysia to assume the role of Technical 
Advisor.
 
He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin was appointed to the Board of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad on 31 October 2002 and has attended three 
out of the five Board meetings held in the financial year. He also serves as a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree from University Malaya and a Master in 
Economics from University of Pittsburgh, USA.

He has served the Malaysian Government for thirty years. He began his civil service career in the Prime Minister’s Department 
from 1963 to 1979, holding various positions in the Economic Planning Unit, including the position of the Secretary to the Foreign 
Investment Committee. He held the position of Director General of Insurance in 1979 to 1983 and was Secretary of the Finance 
Division of the Federal Treasury. He then served as Director General of the National Rice and Padi Board.

Prior to retirement, he was the Secretary General for the Ministry of Domestic Trade and Consumer Affairs from 1992. He was also 
the Secretary General for the Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI) from 1990 and the Secretary General of the 
Ministry of Public Enterprise in 1986.

Currently, he serves as the Chairman of Latitude Tree Holding Berhad and sits on the Board of Malayan Flour Mills Berhad, 
Southern Steel Berhad, EON Berhad, Gopeng Berhad, Ladang Perbadanan–FIMA Berhad, Export-Import Bank Malaysia Berhad and 
various non-listed companies.

He has no conflict of interest with the Company or any family relationship with any other Director or shareholder of the Company. 
He has also not been convicted for any offences within the past ten years other than for traffic offences, if any.

Executive Director

   Tetsuhiko Yoshikawa

   Takuji Umeda

  Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron 
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Statement On Corporate Governance

The Board is committed to ensuring that the Company observes the principles of corporate governance as recommended in Part 1 
of the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance. The Board has therefore taken steps to adopt the best practices as recommended 
in Part 2 of the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance.

The Board has considered the manner in which it has applied the Principles of the Code and to the best of its ability complied with 
the Best Practices of the Code. It also enhances shareholders’ participation and value and safeguards the interest of other 
stakeholders.

The Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Company and retains full and effective control of the 
responsibility for the Company’s activities. In fulfilling its fiduciary duties, the Board ensures that there are appropriate systems and 
procedures in place to manage the Company’s significant risks. In addition, the Board also had in place a capable and experienced 
management team to oversee the day-to-day operations of the Company.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises seven (7) Executive Directors, one (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors and four (4) 
Independent Non-Executive Directors, which is in excess of one-third requirement for independent Directors in the Board. Thereby 
the Board is of the view that the current composition of the Board facilitates effective decision making and independent judgement 
where no individual shall dominate the Board’s decision making. 

The Board is of the opinion that the composition of the Board fairly reflects the investment in the Company by shareholders other 
than the significant shareholder including the minority shareholders. The profiles of the members of the Board are set out in pages 
4 to 7. 

The Board comprises highly reputable and professional persons which represents a diverse background of knowledge, expertise 
and experience. With their combined experience and knowledge they provide sound advice and judgements for the benefit of the 
Company and its shareholders. The Board has identified Dr. Goh Chin Siew as a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, to 
whom concerns may be conveyed.

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman, who is an Independent Non-Executive Director, and the Chief Executive Officer / 
Managing Director, are distinct, separate and clearly defined. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the Board’s effectiveness 
and orderly conduct. The Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director has overall responsibility for the management and operation 
of the Company’s business and the implementation of Board policies, strategies and decisions.

Responsibility is vested in the Non-Executive Directors of the Company to ensure that the policies and strategies proposed by the 
Management are fully discussed and critically examined, not only against the best long-term interests of shareholders, but also to 
ensure that they take proper account of the interests of employees, customers, suppliers and the many communities within which it 
is represented. The presence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are essential to provide the unbiased and independent 
view, advice and judgement as well as to safeguard the interest of other parties such as minority interest and the community.

All the Directors of the Company have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme (“MAP”) organised by the Research 
Institute of Investment Analysts Malaysia (“RIIAM”), an affiliate of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Directors will continue 
to undergo the Continuous Education Programme (“CEP”) and other relevant training programmes to further enhance their 
knowledge in the latest statutory and regulatory developments to enable them to discharge their responsibilities more effectively.
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Statement On Corporate Governance (con't)

Board Responsibilities 

In line with the practice of good corporate governance, the Board has established and implemented various processes to assist 
members of the Board in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities. The Board’s duties and responsibilities include the 
following:-

1.   Periodic review and adopt the Company’s business policies and strategies;
2.   Management and staff succession planning;
3.   Review of the adequacy and the integrity of the Company’s internal controls and management information systems;
4.   Identifying principal risks and ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks;
5.   Maintaining an effective investor and shareholders communication policy; 
6.   Ensuring that the Company complies with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines of relevant authorities;     
      and
7.   Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of the Company’s internal control systems and management information systems,  
      including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines.
  
Directors have also participated in factory visits as well as food tasting sessions on the Company’s new products which underpins 
the Board’s knowledge of the Company’s production processes and product range.

Board Meetings 

The Board meets at least four (4) times and, as and when required, during the financial year to, amongst others, review and 
approve the quarterly financial statements and the annual audited financial statements. 
 
The number of Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March, 2004 and each directors’ attendance at the 
meetings were as follows:-

Executive Directors

Mr. Takashi Imai (Managing Director) 

Tn. Hj. Mazlan Bin Ab. Rahman

Mr. Gew Ah Lek

Mr. Osamu Sekiguchi 

Mr. Tetsuhiko Yoshikawa 

Mr. Takuji Umeda 

Non-Executive Directors

Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim

Bin Mohd. Ali (Chairman)

Mr. Katsuyuki Inoue 

(Alternate Director - Mr. Taisuke Oka)

Encik Adinan Bin Husin 

Dato’ Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang

Dr. Goh Chin Siew

Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron 

5/5

5/5

5/5

5/5
4/5

5/5

5/5

4/5

5/5
5/5

5/5

3/5

100

100

100

100

80

100

100

80

100

100

100

60

Directors

No. of Meetings Attended 
by the Directors in respect 
of the Financial Year Ended 

31 March 2004*

Attendance (%)

In advance of and during each Board meeting, members are each provided with relevant documents and information in a form 
and quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their duties.

Notes

*    There were five (5) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2004. The meetings were held on 28 May  
      2003, 15 July 2003, 28 August 2003, 18 November 2003 and 17 February 2004.
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Statement On Corporate Governance (con't)

Supply of Information

The agenda for the Board meetings, together with appropriate reports and information on the Company’s business operations, and 
proposal papers for the Board’s consideration are circulated to all the Directors prior to the meetings in sufficient time. During the 
meeting, the management provided information and clarification on issues raised prior to every Board meeting. Wherever 
necessary, consultants and experts were invited to brief the Board on their areas of expertise or their report.

The Board sets yearly objectives, which are guided by the parent company’s corporate objectives and the management is delegated 
with the responsibility of meeting the objectives.

In order to execute the responsibilities more effectively, the Directors have access to all information within the Company whether 
as a full board or in their individual capacity. Directors also have direct access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary 
and may seek independent professional advice as and when necessary in discharging their responsibilities. Wherever necessary, 
consultants and experts were invited to brief the Board on their areas of expertise or their report.

Appointments to the Board

In order to comply with good practice for the appointment of new directors through a formal and transparent procedure, the Board 
has set up a Nomination Committee to evaluate and recommend candidates for directorships to the Board.

Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to retirement 
at the first Annual General Meeting of the Company subsequent to their appointment. One third of all the other Directors shall 
retire by rotation at each Annual General Meeting provided always that all Directors shall retire from office at least once in every 
three (3) years. The Directors retiring from office shall be eligible for re-election by the shareholders.

Committees

(1)  Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee was established with clearly defined terms of reference, comprising  two (2) Executive Directors and 
five (5) Non-Executive Directors. The majority of the members are Independent Directors. The Nomination Committee comprised 
the following members :- 

  .   Adinan Bin Husin                                                                    (Chairman, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)                                           
  .  Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato' Paduka 
      Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali                                           (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Dato’ Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang                                     (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Dr. Goh Chin Siew                                                                  (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron                                      (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Takashi Imai                                                                            (Executive Director)
  .  Keizo Kawamoto                                                                     (Executive Director)

The main responsibilities of this Committee are to propose and recommend new candidates to the Board of Directors, if necessary 
and to review the structure, size and composition of the Board of Directors.

(2)  Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with clearly defined terms of reference comprising two (2) Executive Directors, and five 
(5) Non-Executive Directors. The majority of the members are Independent Directors. The Remuneration Committee comprised the 
following members :- 

  .  Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato' Paduka                                            (Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director)
      Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali
  .   Adinan Bin Husin                                                                    (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)    
  .   Dato’ Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang                                     (Independent Non-Executive Diretor)
  .   Dr. Goh Chin Siew                                                                  (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron                                      (Independent Non-Executive Director)
  .   Takashi Imai                                                                            (Executive Director)
  .   Keizo Kawamoto                                                                     (Executive Director)
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Statement On Corporate Governance (con't)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the remuneration and compensation of the Executive 
Directors. The individuals concerned would abstain from discussion of their own remuneration.

The determination of the remuneration of the Executive Directors are based on the level of responsibilities, experience, 
contribution, individual performance and corporate performance in accordance with Ajinomoto’s Group Remuneration Policy and 
the Holding Company’s recommendations.

The aggregate remuneration of the Directors for the financial year under review are as follows:-

The number of Directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year under review that fall within the 
following bands are as follows:-

Salaries and other emoluments

Fees

Bonus

Gratuity
Benefits-in-kind

Range of Remuneration

Below RM50,000

RM50,001 - RM100,000

RM100,001 - RM250,000

RM250,001 - RM300,000
RM300,001 - RM450,000
RM450,001 - RM500,000
RM500,001 - RM550,000
RM550,001 - RM600,000

Executive Directors

RM'000

2,262

150
167
60

75

Executive Directors

-
-
-
2
-

2
-
2

Non-Executive Directors

RM'000

-

175
-

70

-

Non-Executive Directors

5

1
-
-

-
-

-
-

The only area of non-compliance with the Malaysia Code of Corporate Governance is the disclosure of details of the remuneration 
of each Director. At this juncture, the Board believes that this information will not add significantly to the understanding and 
evaluation of the Company’s governance.

(3)   The Audit Committee

The composition, responsibilities, terms of reference and activities during the financial year of the Audit Committee are set out 
under the Audit Committee Report on pages 16  to 17.

Accountability & Audit

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the quarterly and annual audited financial statements of the Company present a fair and 
balance view and assessment of the Company’s financial position, performance and prospects.
 
The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the provisions of the Companies Act, 
1965 and applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia. The Board is responsible to ensure that the financial statements 
of the Company present a balanced and fair assessment of the state of affairs of the Company. The Audit Committee assists the 
Board in reviewing and scrutinising the information for disclosure to ensure accuracy, adequacy and completeness. The 
composition, summary of activities and terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be found in the Audit Committee Report on 
pages 16  to 17 .  

The Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Audited Financial Statements pursuant to paragraph 15.27 (a) of the 
Listing Requirements is set out on page 15 of this Annual Report.

11
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Statement On Corporate Governance (con't)

Internal Control

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal controls which cover risk management, financial, 
organizational, operational and compliance controls. The Board acknowledges its responsibility and accountability for the 
Company’s system of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness, adequacy and integrity of this system. The Board has 
delegated the implementation and monitoring of the internal control system to the Management of the Company and has 
appointed independent consultants to carry out the Internal Audit and Risk Management functions.  

Information on the Company’s internal control is presented in the Statement on Internal Control on pages 14.       
 
Relationship with Auditors

The roles of the Audit Committee, the internal and external auditors of the Company are described in the Audit Committee Report 
set out on pages 16 to 17 of this Annual Report. The Board and the Audit Committee have always maintained a professional and 
transparent relationship with the Company’s auditors.

External Audit

The Company’s independent external auditors fill an essential role by enhancing the reliability of the Company’s financial 
statements and giving assurance to stakeholders of the reliability of these financial statements. The Company continues its 
professional relationship with the Company’s Auditors, Messrs. Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad through the Audit Committee.

The external auditors have an obligation to bring any significant defects in the Company’s system of control and compliance to the 
attention of the management; and if necessary, to the Audit Committee and the Board.

Shareholders' Communication And Investor Relations

Relationship with Shareholders

The Board recognises the need for transparency and accountability to the Company’s shareholders and regular communication 
with its shareholders, stakeholders and investors on the performance and major developments in the Company. It ensures that 
timely releases of the quarterly financial results, circulars, press releases, corporate announcements and annual reports are made 
to its shareholders and investors. 

Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

Shareholders' participation at the Company’s AGM is always encouraged and welcomed. It is a useful opportunity for the Directors 
and management to communicate face to face with shareholders and to present the Company’s business operations, performance 
and future plans.

Notice of the AGM, Annual Reports and circulars are sent out with sufficient notice before the date of the meeting to enable the 
shareholders to have the full information about the meeting to facilitate informed decision-making. The Statement Accompanying 
the Notice of the AGM and explanatory notes on the proposed resolutions under Special Business are given to help the 
shareholders vote on the resolutions.

Shareholders, investors and the general public can also obtain information on the Company by accessing the Company’s website 
at www.ajinomoto.com.my. The shareholders and investors are also able to access the latest corporate, financial and market 
information of the Company via Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s website at www.bursamalaysia.com.
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Additional Compliance Information

1.   Share Buy-Backs

      The Company did not enter into any share buy-backs transactions during the financial year.

2.   Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities

      The Company has not granted any options nor issued any warrants or convertible securities during the financial year.

3.   American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) or Global Depository Receipt (“GDR”)

      The Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme during the financial year.

4.   Imposition of Sanctions and / or Penalties
     
      There were no sanctions and / or penalties imposed on the Company, directors or management by any    
      regulatory bodies during the financial year.

5.   Non-Audit Fees

      During the financial year, the amount of non-audit fees paid by the Company to the external auditors amounted to RM 4,300.

6.   Variation in Results

      There were no material variations between the audited results for the financial year ended 31 March 2004 against the   
      unaudited results for the year ended 31 March 2004 released by the Company previously.

7.   Profit Guarantee

      The Company did not give any profit guarantee during the financial year.

8.   Material Contracts

      There were no material contracts entered into by the Company involving directors’ and major shareholders’   
      interests which were still subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

9.   Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties
  
      The revaluation policy of the Company is disclosed in Note 2(C) to the financial statements.

10. Recurrent Related Party Transactions of Revenue or Trading Nature

      The details of the transactions with related parties undertaken by the Company during the financial year are disclosed in Note   
      25 on page 49 of the Company’s Annual Report.
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Pursuant to 15.27 (b) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”), the Board of Ajinomoto 
(M) Berhad ("herein known as the Company”) is pleased to include a statement on the state of the Company’s internal controls as 
guided by the Bursa Malaysia’s Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies (“the 
Guidance”). The statement below outlines the nature and scope of the internal controls of the Company during the financial year.

Board Responsibility

The Board recognises its responsibility for the Company’s system of internal controls, inclusive of the risk management framework, 
and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the internal control system so that shareholders’ interests and investment are 
safeguarded. In this respect, the responsibility of reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the internal control system has been 
delegated to the Audit Committee, which is empowered by its terms of reference to seek the assurance on the adequacy and 
integrity of the internal control system through independent reviews conducted by the internal audit function and management.

As there are inherent limitations to any system on internal controls, Management can only put into effect an internal control system 
which is designed to reduce rather than eliminate all the risks that may impede the achievement of the Company’s business 
objectives. Therefore, the internal control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. In addition, in devising internal control procedures, due consideration is given to the cost of implementation 
as compared to the expected benefits to be derived from the implementation of the internal control.

Risk Management Framework

The Board maintains an ongoing commitment to strengthen the Company’s control environment and processes. Key risks relating 
to the Company’s operations and strategic and business plans are addressed at weekly / monthly management meetings. In 
addition, the responsibility of managing the risks of each department lies with the respective Heads of Department and it is during 
the weekly / monthly management meetings, significant risks identified and the corresponding internal controls implemented are 
communicated to Senior Management. 

In addition, a Risk Management Committee was established last year and adopts the framework of the parent company’s Risks 
Management Guideline System. This committee is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and includes key management staff. 
Periodic meetings are held to identify, evaluate and manage risks.
 
The abovementioned procedures on risk management serve as the ongoing process used to identify, evaluate and managed 
significant risks. 

Statement Of Internal Control

Internal Audit Function

The Company’s internal audit function is outsourced to external consultants whose terms of reference are documented in the 
Internal Audit Charter. During the financial year ended 31 March 2004, the internal audit team conducted reviews in accordance 
with the internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee.

The results of internal audit team’s reviews are formally reported to the Audit Committee at their quarterly meetings. The internal 
audit reviews conducted did not reveal significant weaknesses which would result in material losses, contingencies or uncertainties 
that would require disclosure in the annual report.

The internal audit team did not perform any review and assessment of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad’s associate companies.

Other Key Elements of Internal Controls

The other key elements of the Company’s internal control systems are:

    .  The Company has clearly defined organisation structure with clear lines of responsibility and delegation of authority. The hierarchical    
       reporting provides a very well documented and auditable trail of accountability.

    .  The quality of staff is enhanced through a rigorous recruitment process, performance appraisal and annual training programs.

    .  The quality of product is of prime importance to the Board. The compliance to procedures outlined in the ISO9001:2000 accreditation
       to ensure quality assurance and control are strictly adhered to via regular internal and external quality audit.

    .  There is a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting system, with an annual business plan and budget approved by the Board  
       and Holding Company. The results of the Company’s business are reported on a monthly basis. Forecasts are revised on a semi-
       annual basis. Monthly operational meetings and regular weekly meetings are conducted among senior management staff to 
       evaluate and monitor the progress of the business operations.

Assurance

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls is adequate and is fully aware that the system of internal control and 
risk management practices must continuously evolve to support the Company’s operations. As such, reviews of control procedures 
will be continuously be carried out to ensure ongoing adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls.

This Statement on Internal Control is made in accordance with the resolution adopted by the Board at its meeting held on 15 July 
2004.

Introduction
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Statement Of Directors' Responsibility In
Relation To The Financial Statements

This statement is prepared as required by the Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as 
at the end of the financial year and of its result and cash flow for that year then ended.

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements,
    - the Company have used appropriate accounting policies and are consistently applied;
    - reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates were made; and
    - all applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
the financial position of the Company, and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 1965.

The Directors have general responsibilities for taking such steps that are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the 
Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

15
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Audit Committee Report

TERMS OF REFERENCE

PURPOSE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and meeting the Corporate Governance requirements. It 
reviews the quarterly financial information for accuracy and fairness before recommending to the Board for adoption and release 
to the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and shareholders, the systems of internal controls which management and the Board of 
Directors have established, and makes recommendations to management on actions to be taken, if any, based on the Report of the 
Independent Internal Auditors. 

Name

Dato’ Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang

Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka 
Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali

Adinan Bin Husin

Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj Harun

Dr. Goh Chin Siew

Takashi Imai

Gew Ah Lek

Attendance*

5/5

5/5

5/5

3/5

5/5

5/5

5/5

Chairman

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member

Status

Independent Non-
Executive Director

Independent Non-
Executive Director

Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director

Independent Non-
Executive Director

Independent Non-
Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director

* The meetings were held on 28 May 2003, 15 July 2003, 28 August 2003, 18 November 2003 and 17 February 2004   
   respectively.

The Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst its members and shall consist of not less than 3 
members of whom a majority shall be Independent Directors. The Committee shall include at least one person who is a member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) or alternatively a person who must have at least 3 years’ working experience and have 
passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967 or is a member of one of the 
associations specified in Part II of the said Schedule. No alternate Director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee.

The Committee shall elect a Chairperson from amongst its members who shall be an Independent Non-Executive Director. It   is   
the responsibility of the Chairman to schedule all meetings of the Committee and provide the Committee members with a written 
agenda for all meetings. In the event that a member of the Audit Committee resigns, dies or for any other reason ceases to be a 
member, with the result that the number of members is reduced to below three, the Board of Directors shall, within three months 
of that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to make up the minimum number of three members.

The Board shall review the term of office of the Committee no less than every three years.

The members of the Audit Committee, attendance at each Audit Committee Meeting during the financial year ended 31 March 
2004 are as follows:

Composition and Meetings

Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least four times a year. In addition, the Chairperson shall convene a meeting of the Committee if 
requested to do so by any member, the management or the internal or external auditors to consider any matter within the scope 
and responsibilities of the Committee.

The Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Internal Audit, Company Secretary and a representative of the external auditors shall 
normally attend meetings. However, the Committee may invite any person to be in attendance to assist it in its deliberations.

A quorum shall consist of a majority of non-executive committee members and shall not be less than two.
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Audit Committee Report (con't)

Function

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

To review any financial information for publication, including quarterly and annual financial statements before submission to 
the Board of Directors.

To review with the external auditors their audit plan, scope and nature of audit for the Company

To review external auditors’ audit report, areas of concern arising from the audit and any other matters the external auditors 
may wish to discuss.

To assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and accounting control procedures of the 
Company by reviewing the external and/or internal auditors’ management letters and management responses.

To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits and any matters the auditors may wish to 
discuss.

To review the internal audit plan and processes, consider the major findings of internal audit, fraud investigations and actions 
and steps taken by management in response to audit findings.

To review the adequacy and relevance of the scope, functions and resources of internal audit and the necessary authority to 
carry out its work.

To determine extent of cooperation and assistance given by employees.

To review any related party transactions and conflict of interest situations that may arise within the Company.

To consider the appointment of the external auditors, the terms of reference of their appointment and any question of 
resignation and dismissal before making recommendations to the Board.

To undertake such other responsibilities as may be agreed to by the Committee and the Board.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

The Committee shall have the authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. The Committee shall have the 
resources, including full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company, which are required to perform its 
duties. The Committee shall be empowered to obtain independent professional or other advice and have direct communication 
channels with the external auditors and persons carrying out the internal audit function or activity. The Committee shall be able to 
convene meetings with the external auditors, excluding the attendance of the executive members of the Committee, whenever 
deemed necessary.

The activities of the Audit Committee during the financial year ended 31 March 2004 are as follows:-

Review external audit scope and audit plan;

Review external audit results and audit reports;

Review Internal Audit’s plan and programmes;

Review Internal Audit reports, recommendations and Management responses and suggest additional improvement 
opportunities in the areas of internal control, systems and efficiency improvement;

Review Annual Report and the audited financial statements of the Company prior to submission to the Board for their perusal 
and approval;

Review the Company’s compliance with the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, MASB and other relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements with regards to the quarterly and year-end financial statements;

Review unaudited financial results announcements before recommending them for the approval of the Board.

Authority

Summary of Activities

Internal Audit Function

The Audit Committee is supported by an independent and adequately resourced internal audit function. The Committee is aware of 
the fact that an independent and adequately resourced internal audit function is essential to assist in obtaining the assurance it 
requires regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control.

The main role of the internal audit function is to review the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this is performed 
impartially and professionally.

During the financial year, the internal audit activities have been carried out according to the internal audit plan, which have been 
approved by the Audit Committee.
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Environmental Report 2004

As in its last Environmental Report (2003), the Company continues to uphold and enhance its commitment to the environment.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company has been complying with all environmental legislations of the country by 
protecting and respecting the external surroundings of its current operations and by ensuring the health and safety of its internal 
employees.

The advanced wastewater treatment plant, in which the Company has already invested more than RM10 million, for filtering, 
treating and cleansing its effluent before discharge into the local inland water system, continues to operate efficiently. The plant 
ensures that the discharge does not harm the inland water system and meet with the environmental standards set by the relevant 
authorities. 

The Company, in anticipation of new and more stringent regulations on the effluent discharge, took an initiative in May 2003 to 
commission a competent party to undertake an independent technical study to find out the effects of its discharge on the upstream 
and, especially, downstream of the local inland water system and to produce recommendations, if necessary. The Company 
decided to take this bold and proactive measure of such a study rather than wait for the relevant authorities to institute new 
regulations on the effluent discharge.

The study can also be seen as a contribution by the Company to promote a more transparent understanding and awareness of how 
its effluent discharge affects the quality of the inland water system concerned.

The above study has confirmed that the Company’s effluent discharge has met with the current environmental standards and that 
there are no harmful or toxic effects on the local inland water system. It must be stressed that the Company is the only one 
operating amino acid-based fermentation in the country and certain by-products (which are not necessarily harmful) are 
unavoidable due to the nature of its proprietary production process. Nevertheless, the Company has been able over the years, with 
the help of its treatment plant mentioned above, to manage, minimize and control the levels of the various parameters found in the 
effluent discharge.

The report of the above technical study has been submitted to the Department of Environment, Malaysia (DOE) for its due 
consideration and review of the current environmental regulations. DOE has even praised the Company’s action in commissioning 
such a study as a positive and exemplary move.

Recently, the Company’s parent corporation in Tokyo, demonstrating its strong pro-environment position, has also mandated that 
all its operations worldwide must comply, within a certain timeframe, with a new and common set of high environmental rules 
and standards set by the head office. For Malaysia, these new standards are generally even more stringent than the current 
government requirements.

In view of the latest situation as explained above, the Company is reviewing the local business operations to ensure that it will 
comply with both the local environmental laws and the new rules set by its head office. At the same time, it will continue to do its 
best in improving efficiency and streamlining its business operations to ensure its commercial viability.

The whole point about “sustainable business development” is to be able to strike a right balance between protecting the 
environment and maintaining its business profitability in a legitimate and transparent manner. This universal concept has been well 
debated, publicized and established since the Earth Summit at Rio in 1992, with the United Nations, the Malaysian Government 
and almost all other countries fully supporting and subscribing to it. The Company, as part of the Ajinomoto Group, is proud to set 
a good corporate example in Malaysia by implementing “sustainable business development” not just with words, but with real 
actions and commitments.

The Company will continue to uphold and implement policies and principles aimed at protecting and conserving the environment 
for the present and future generations.
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List of Properties
As At 31 March 2004

Properties

Land and building 
124, Jalan U Thant, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land and building 
8 & 8A, Lorong 1, 
Jalan Shahbandar, 
Bandar Penggaram, 
Batu Pahat

Land and buildings 
Lot 5710, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land and buildings 
Lot 5710, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land and buildings 
Lot 5710, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land and buildings 
Lot 5710, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land and buildings 
Lot 5710, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Land
Lot 47088, 
Jalan Kuchai Lama, 
Petaling, 
Kuala Lumpur

Existing Use/
Description of 
Building/Land

1 unit double 
storey bungalow

1 unit double 
storey shophouse

Office, 
warehouse and 

factory complex

Office, 
warehouse and 

factory complex

Office, 
warehouse and 

factory complex

Mining pool

Factory complex

Industrial vacant 
land

Land
Area

22,671
sq. ft.

1,680
sq. ft.

536,376
sq. ft.

174,240
sq. ft.

36,329
sq. ft.

304,920
sq. ft.

85,568
sq. ft.

5,904
sq. mtr.

Tenure

Freehold

Freehold

Leasehold 
expiring 

on 
2.4.2062

Leasehold 
expiring 

on 
5.7.2067

Leasehold 
expiring 

on 
6.3.2064

Leasehold 
expiring 
on 2062

Leasehold 
expiring 

on 
15.3.2073

Leasehold 
expiring 

on 
20.1.2074

Date of 
Acquisition/
Revaluation

1984 
(Revaluation)

1984 
(Revaluation)

1984 
(Revaluation)

1984 
(Revaluation)

1992

1984 
(Revaluation)

1992 

2003 

Age of 
Building

23 years

28 years

39 years

34 years

12 years

39 years

12 years

      

 -

    Net Book
   Value
   RM

987,675

71,525

12,172,612

4,299,320

171,500

2,169,902

11,556,115

3,254,534
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Analysis of Shareholdings
As At 30 June 2004

Authorised Share Capital                 :   RM80,000,000.00
Issued and Paid Up Share Capital    :   RM60,798,534.00 comprising 60,798,534 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
Class of Shares                                :   Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each
Voting Rights                                   :   One vote per ordinary share

Size of Shareholdings

1 - 99
100 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares

No. of 
Shareholders

122
381

1,160
129

18
4

1,814

%

6.73
21.00
63.95
7.11
0.99
0.22

100.00

No. of 
Shares

2,573
192,750

3,527,682
3,073,723
6,996,858

47,004,948

60,798,534

 %

0.00
0.32
5.80
5.06

11.51
77.31

100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 JUNE 2004

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The substantial shareholders of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Bhd. based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the Company and 
his respective shareholdings as at 30 June 2004 is as follows:-  

Name

Ajinomoto Co., Inc. 
Pemegang Amanah Raya Malaysia
- Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera
Gabriel C. K. Tam
Lembaga Tabung Haji

Direct
Holding

30,445,445
8,856,870

4,419,133
3,283,500

%

50.08
14.57

7.27
5.40

%

-
-

-
-

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 

Directors 

Adinan Bin Husin 
Y. Bhg. General (Rtd) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed 
Hashim Bin Mohd Ali
Katsuyuki Inoue 
Gew Ah Lek
Mazlan Bin Ab Rahman 
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Professor (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang 
Dr. Goh Chin Siew
Takashi Imai
Osamu Sekiguchi
Taisuke Oka
(Alternate Director To Katsuyuki Inoue)
Tetsuhiko Yoshikawa
Takuji Umeda
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron

No. of shares

-
-
-
-

6,000
-
-
-

2,398
-
-

-
-
-

%

-
-
-
-

0.01%
-
-
-

0.00%
-
-

-
-
-

No. of shares 

-
-
-
-
-
-

150,000
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

%

-
-
-
-
-
-

0.25%
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

Indirect
Holding

-
-

-
-

No

1.
2.

3.
4.

No

1.
2.

3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

11.
12.
13.

Direct Interest Indirect Interest
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THIRTY LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS AS AT 30 JUNE 2004

Shareholders

Ajinomoto Co., Inc.

Amanah Raya Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.

- Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera Permodalan Nasional Berhad 

Tam Chi Kok Gabriel

Lembaga Tabung Haji

HDM Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- DBS Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd for Ettrick Company Limited

Mayban Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- Bank of East Asia (Nominees) Pte Ltd for the Bank of East Asia 

  Ltd Singapore 

Menteri Kewangan Malaysia

See Hoy Chan Agencies Sendirian Berhad

Tee Teh Sdn. Bhd.

ECM Libra Securities Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- ECM Libra Securities Limited for Fok Ng Fung Yee

Malaysia Ve-Tsin Mfg. Co. Bhd.

Employees Provident Fund Board 

Tay How Seng

Malaysia Nominees (Asing) Sendirian Berhad

- Oversea-Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd for Tan Hin Tat

See Hoy Chan Sdn. Berhad

Phua Thian Kang Sdn. Berhad

Teo Soo Cheng Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad

- Oriental Realty Sdn. Bhd.

Lai Khee Sin @ Joseph Lai

Eng Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd for Tan Pheck Gee

RHB Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- GK Goh SPL for See Fong Mun

Tee Keng Sing

Yong Sai Moi @ Yong Chan Ying

Poseidon Sendirian Berhad

Chia Choon Kwang @ Chai Choon Kwang

Goh Yai Heng

Thong & Kay Hiaw Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.

- UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd for Sessylu Ltd (Margin)

Chong Shee Jan

Syed Badarudin Jamalullail Bin Syed Putra Jamalullail

Eng Guan Chan Sdn. Berhad

TOTAL

No. of Shares

30,445,445

8,856,870

4,419,133

3,283,500

1,307,454

1,131,030

1,060,604

775,500

524,508

392,562

313,458

303,000

260,059

170,527

157,675

120,000

120,000

119,536

119,536

113,011

99,475

99,462

95,628

90,000

85,681

78,000

71,943

70,069

63,078

60,000

54,806,744

%

50.08

14.57

7.27

5.40

2.15

1.86

1.74

1.28

0.86

0.65

0.52

0.50

0.43

0.28

0.26

0.20

0.20

0.20

0.20

0.19

0.16

0.16

0.16

0.15

0.14

0.13

0.12

0.12

0.10

0.10

90.18

No.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

Analysis of Shareholdings (con't)
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Financial Highlights

*   The financial period is for a period of 15 months from 1 January 2000 to 31 March 2001
** Based on an enlarged share capital of 60,798,534 subsequent to bonus issue of 20,266,178 shares

Revenue

Profit Before Tax

Profit After Tax

Shareholders' Funds

Per Share (sen)

          Gross Earnings
 

          Net Earnings
       

          Net Tangible Asset
       

134,906 

8,239 

7,409 

99,465 

20.3 

18.3 

245.4 

173,091 

17,373 

11,722 

106,728 

42.9 

28.9 

263.3 

142,648 

13,627 

10,350 

117,079 

33.6 

25.5 

288.9 

151,009 
 

14,894 

12,173 

123,118 

24.5 

20.0 

202.5 

164,126 

15,233 

13,145 

132,323 

25.1 

21.6 

217.6 

1999
RM'000

2000/1*
RM'000

2002
RM'000

2003**
RM'000

2004**
RM'000
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Revenue
RM millions

Gross Earnings Per Share

RM millions
Profit Before Tax

Shareholders' Funds
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Directors' Report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2004.

Principle Activities	 	 	 	 	

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products.  



There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

Result
                                                                                                                                                          RM
Net profit for the year                                                                                                                                                   13,145,351

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the year other than as disclosed in the statement of 
changes in equity.



In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Company during the financial year were not substantially affected 
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

The amount of dividends paid by the Company since 31 March 2003 were as follows:

In respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2003 as reported in the directors' report of that year:

                                                                                                                                                                                                RM
First and final dividend of 9% less 28% taxation, paid on 29 September 2003                                                              3,939,745 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2004, of 4% 
less 28% taxation and 5% tax exempt on 60,798,534 ordinary shares, amounting to a total dividend payable of RM4,790,924 (7.9 
sen net per share) will be proposed for shareholders' approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect 
this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders' equity as an 
appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 March 2005.

Directors

Dividends

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali          

Takashi Imai           

Tetsuhiko Yoshikawa           

Takuji Umeda           

Dato’ Professor Teo Chiang Liang           

Adinan bin Husin           

Dr. Goh Chin Siew           

Mazlan bin Ab. Rahman           

Gew Ah Lek           

Dato' Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron           

Keizo Kawamoto                                   (appointed on 15 July 2004)          

Kenji Fikami                                          (appointed on 15 July 2004)          

Katsuyuki Inoue                                    (resigned on 15 July 2004)          

Osamu Sekiguchi                                  (resigned on 15 July 2004)          

Taisuke Oka                                          (alternate to Katsuyuki Inoue - ceased on 15 July 2004)           
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Directors' Report (con't)

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company 
was a party, whereby directors might acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any 
other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivables by the directors as shown in Note 7 to the 
financial statements or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a 
related corporation with any director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial 
financial interest.

Directors' Benefit 

Directors' Interests

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in 
the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

The Company   
   
Direct Interest   
Gew Ah Lek   

Takashi Imai

Indirect Interest
Dato' Professor  (Dr) Teo Chiang Liang   

1 April 2003

 6,000

 1,954

 

150,000

Bought
	
	
	

 -	

 444

- 	

Sold

 -

 -

- 

31 March 2004
	
	
	

6,000

2,398

150,000 

Number of Ordinary Shares of RM1 Each

Holding Company
- Ajinomoto Co. Inc   

Direct Interest

Katsuyuki Inoue   

Osamu Sekiguchi   

Takuji Umeda   

Takashi Imai

1 April 2003 Bought 	 Sold 31 March 2004
 

Number of Ordinary Shares of RM1 Each

4,064 

3,490 

2,115 

1,662 

 - 

 501 

 179 

 174 

 64	

 - 	

 - 	

 - 	

4,000 

3,991 

2,294 

1,836 

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.
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Directors' Report (con't)

Other Statutory Information
Before the income statement and balance sheet of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:-

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for 
doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that adequate allowance had been made 
for doubtful debts; and

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records in the 
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render: 

it necessary to write off any bad debts or the allowance for doubtful debts inadequate to any substantial extent; and

the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Company misleading. 

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to 
the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial 
statements of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

any charge on the assets of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liabilities of 
any other person; or

any contingent liability of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors:     

no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve 
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Company to meet its obligations when 
they fall due; and

no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Company for the 
financial year in which this report is made.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(ii)

The auditors, Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors           

GEN (R) TAN SRI (DR) DATO' PADUKA                                TAKASHI IMAI  
 MOHAMED HASHIM BIN MOHD ALI           

Auditors

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Dated : 15 July 2004
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Subsequent Event

On 7 April 2004, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose a parcel of land held under Geran Mukim 
119, Lot No. 11125 Mukim Ampang, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan for a cash consideration of RM 4,750,000.  



Statement By Directors

Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

Statutory Declaration

Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, Gen (R) Tan Sri (Dr) Dato' Paduka Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali and Takashi Imai, being two of the directors of Ajinomoto 
(Malaysia) Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 29 
to 52 are drawn up in accordance with applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2004 and of the 
result and the cash flow of the Company for the year then ended.

GEN (R) TAN SRI (DR) DATO' PADUKA                                TAKASHI IMAI  
 MOHAMED HASHIM BIN MOHD ALI           

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Dated : 15 July 2004

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors        

I, Gew Ah Lek, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 29 to 52 are in my opinion, correct 
and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory 
Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by      
the abovenamed GEW AH LEK     
at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on                            GEW AH LEK    
15 July 2004                            

Before me,

Mohd Radzi bin Yasin
(W327)
Commissioner for Oaths
Kuala Lumpur 27
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Report Of The Auditors To The Members Of 
Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad    

We have audited the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 29 to 52. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's directors.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit.



We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable Approved Standards on Auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion:   

the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and 
applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of:

the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2004 and of the result and the cash flow of the Company for the year 
then ended; and

the matters required by Section 169 of the Companies Act, 1965 to be dealt with in the financial statements; and

the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(a)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

HANAFIAH RASLAN & MOHAMAD                                     WONG KANG HWEE  
AF: 0002                                                                                No. 1116/01/06 (J)  
Chartered Accountants                                                           Partner  

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Dated : 15 July 2004
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Income Statement
For The Year Ended 31 March 2004

Revenue
       
Other operating income       

Changes in inventories of finished goods,       
  work in progress and goods-in-transit      

Raw materials and packaging materials consumed  
     
Finished goods purchased       

Staff costs       

Depreciation      

Other operating expenses      

Profit from operations       

Interest income      

Profit before taxation      

Taxation      

Net profit for the year    
   
      
Basic earnings per share (sen)      
      
Net dividends per share (sen)      

	
 Note

 3 
 
4 
 
 
 
 

 5 
 
 

6 
 
 

 8 
 
 
 

9 
 

 10 

2004 
RM 

164,125,822 

1,267,254 

3,215,930 

 (72,564,560)

 (5,534,886)

 (24,458,857)

 (9,604,863)

 (42,254,246)

14,191,594 
 

1,040,997 
 

15,232,591 

 (2,087,240)

13,145,351 
 

21.6 

7.9 

2003
RM

151,009,244
 

801,044 

1,714,032
 

 (64,338,766)

 (3,857,740)

 (21,717,762)

 (10,665,453)

 (39,330,622)

13,613,977 

1,280,471 

14,894,448 

 (2,721,318)

12,173,130 

20.0 

 6.5 
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Balance Sheet As At 31 March 2004

Non-Current Assets 
    
   Property, plant and equipment  
   
   Investments     
      
      

Current Assets            
  
  Inventories
     
  Trade receivables     
 
  Other receivables     

  Cash and bank balances     
      
      

Current Liabilities          

  Trade payables     

  Other payables     

  Tax payable     

  Post-employment benefit obligations     
      
      

Net Current Assets      
       
      

Financed By:       

Share capital      

Reserves      

Shareholders’ fund      
      
Post-employment benefit obligations      

Deferred tax liabilities      

Non-current liabilities      

	
 Note

 
 
 

 11 

 12 
 
 
 

 
 13
 

 14
 

 15
 

 16 
 
 
 

 
 17
 

 18 
 

     
 21 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 19
 

 20 
 
 

 21

 22 

2004
RM

70,611,668
 

4,119,876
 

74,731,544

26,921,432
 

20,790,145
 

3,529,640
 

33,578,317
 

84,819,534

12,627,196
 

5,154,100
 

717,645
 

392,151
 

18,891,092

65,928,442
 

140,659,986

60,798,534
 

71,524,751
 

132,323,285

3,245,226
 

5,091,475
 

8,336,701
 

140,659,986

2003
RM

55,232,487

3,068,807

58,301,294

24,005,014

17,693,634

2,382,164

49,257,903

93,338,715

11,915,332

7,111,612

745,595

502,592

20,275,131

73,063,584

131,364,878

60,798,534
 

62,319,145
 

123,117,679

3,071,732

5,175,467

8,247,199
 

131,364,878

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.            
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Statement Of Changes In Equity
For Ther Year Ended 31 March 2004 

Share 
Capital 

RM 

 40,532,356 

 - 

 40,532,356 

 20,266,178 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 60,798,534 

 60,798,534 

 - 

 60,798,534 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 60,798,534 

At 1 April 2002	 	

As previously stated	 	

Prior year adjustments	 	

    (Note 23)	 	

At 1 April 2002	 	

     (restated)	 	

Bonus issue	 	

Transfer from	 	

  revaluation reserves	 	   

  to retained profits	 	

Net profit for the year	 	

Dividends (Note 10)		

At 31 March 2003

At 1 April 2003  

As previously stated  

Prior year adjustments  

    (Note 23)  

At 1 April 2003  
     (restated)   
Transfer from  

  revaluation reserves  

  to retained profits  

Net profit for the year  

Dividends (Note 10)  

At 31 March 2004  	 	

Share 
Premium

RM 

 4,303,700 

 - 

 4,303,700 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 4,303,700 

 4,303,700 

 - 

 4,303,700 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 4,303,700 

 Revaluation 
 Reserves 

RM 

 18,324,771 

(10,331,619)

 7,993,152 

 - 

 (121,871)

 - 

 - 

 7,871,281 

 18,324,771 

(10,453,490)

 7,871,281 

 (121,871)

 - 

 - 

 7,749,410 

 
RM 

 53,917,746 

 7,407,758 

 61,325,504 

 (20,266,178)

 121,871 

 12,173,130 

 (3,210,163)

 50,144,164 

 42,567,141 

 7,577,023 

 50,144,164 

 121,871 

 13,145,351 

 (3,939,745)

 59,471,641 

Total 
RM 

 117,078,573 

 (2,923,861)

 114,154,712 

 - 

 - 

 12,173,130 

 (3,210,163)

 123,117,679 

 125,994,146 

 (2,876,467)

 123,117,679 

 - 

 13,145,351 

 (3,939,745)

 132,323,285 

Non-distributable Distributable

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.           
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Cash Flow Statement
For The Year Ended 31 March 2004

      
        
        
Cash Flow From Operating Activities 
               
Profit before taxation        
        
Adjustments for:        
   Allowance for doubtful debts
       
   Short-term accumulating compensated absences 
      
   Depreciation   
    
   Property, plant and equipment written off     
  
   Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  
     
   Amortisation of club membership 
      
   Provision for post-employment benefits 
      
   Dividend income
       
   Interest income
       
Operating profit before working capital changes 
       
   (Increase) / decrease in receivables  
     
   Increase in inventories   
    
   (Decrease) / increase in payables     
  
Cash generated from operations  
      
Tax paid   
     
Payment of post-employment benefits   
     
Net cash generated from operating activities        
      
Cash Flow From Investing Activities
              
Interest received  
      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment        

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment        

Purchase of investments        

Dividend received        

Net cash used in investing activities        
         
	               
Cash Flow From Financing Activity      

Dividend paid       
      
Net (Decrease) / Increase In Cash And Cash Equivalents 
     
Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Year  
    
Cash And Cash Equivalents At End of Year     

	
2004 

RM 
 
 

 15,232,591 
 
 

 - 
 

 389,567 
 

 9,604,863 
 

 360,232 
 

  (318,990)
 

 30,992 
 

 729,171 
 

 (171,403)
 

 (1,040,997)
 

 24,816,026 
  

 (4,228,764)
 

 (2,916,418)
 

(1,635,215)
 

 16,035,629 

 (2,162,961)

 (666,118)

  13,206,550 
  

 994,782 

 (25,344,311)

 319,025 

 (1,051,069)

 135,182 

 (24,946,391)
 

(3,939,745)

(15,679,586)

49,257,903 

33,578,317 

2003 
RM 

 14,894,448 

 54,886 
 

 - 
 

 10,665,453 
 

 768,972 
 

 (283,740)

 61,500 

 929,501 

 (149,842)

(1,280,471)

 25,660,707 
 

 1,200,748 

(7,971,737)

 5,993,410 

 24,883,128 

 (6,606,278)

 (512,172)

 17,764,678 

 
1,280,471 

 (10,734,848)

 383,855 

(20,000)
 

 119,658 

(8,970,864)

(3,210,163)

5,583,651 

43,674,252 

49,257,903 

	
 

 Note
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

 16
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.            
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004  

1. Corporate Information
The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products. 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Board of 
the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is located at Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama, Petaling, 
58200 Kuala Lumpur.

The holding and ultimate holding company of the Company is Ajinomoto Co. Inc., a company incorporated in Japan.
 
The number of employees in the Company at the end of the financial year was 393 (2002:391).
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
15 July 2004.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless indicated in the 
accounting policies below.
 
The financial statements comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable Approved Accounting 
Standards in Malaysia.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2004, the Company adopted the following Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
("MASB") Standards for the first time:

(i)     MASB 25     Income Taxes      
(ii)    MASB 29     Employee Benefits

The effects of adopting MASB 25 are summarised in the Statement of Changes in Equity and further information is disclosed   
in Note 23. The adoption of MASB 29 has not given rise to any material adjustments to the opening balances of retained 
profits of the prior and current year or to changes in comparatives.

(b) Investment in Associates

Associated companies are those companies in which the Company has a long term equity interest and where it exercises  
significant influence but not control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the companies.

Investment in associates is stated at cost less impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2 (k). On disposal of such investments, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and their carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

The results of the associated companies have not been equity accounted as consolidated financial statements are not 
prepared. Details of the associated companies and the effect on the income statement and investments in associated 
companies had the equity method been applied are disclosed in Note 12.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The 
policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2 (k).

Land and buildings are stated at valuation less impairment losses. Land and buildings of the Company have not been 
revalued since they were revalued in 1984. The directors have not adopted a policy of regular revaluations of such assets. As 
permitted under the transitional provisions of IAS 16 (Revised): Property, Plant and Equipment, these assets continue to be 
stated at their valuation less accumulated depreciation. 

A revaluation increase is credited to equity as a revaluation surplus, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation    
decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an expense, in which case the increase is recognised to the income 
statement to the extent of the decrease previously recognised. A revaluation decrease is first offset against unutilised 
previously recognised revaluation surplus in respect of the same asset and the balance is thereafter recognised as an expense.  

Revaluation surplus will be transferred to retained profits an amount equal to the difference between the depreciation on a 
revalued asset and the depreciation based on the cost of that asset. Upon the disposal of revalued assets, the attributable 
revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained profits.
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

2. Significant Accounting Policies (con't)

(d) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on the weighted average basis) and net realisable value. Cost of 
finished goods and work-in-progress includes direct materials, direct labour, other direct cost and appropriate production 
overheads. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at bank and deposits at call 
which have an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 (f) Provisions for Liabilities

Provisions for liabilities are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate.  Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

(g) Income Tax

Income tax on the profit and loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount of 
income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted 
at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is 
recognised in the income statement, except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in    
which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly in equity.

Prior to the adoption of MASB 25 Income Taxes on 1 April 2003, deferred tax was provided for using the liability method in 
respect of significant timing differences and deferred tax assets were not recognised unless there was reasonable expectation 
of their realisation. This change in accounting policy has been accounted for retrospectively and the effects of this change are 
disclosed in Note 23.

Freehold land and capital work-in-progress are not depreciated. Leasehold land is depreciated over the period of the respective 
leases which range from 71 years to 83 years. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided on a straight line 
basis to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life at the following annual rates:  

Buildings                                                                                                                                                                       7% to 11%

Motor vehicles                                                                                                                                                                        25%          

Plant, machinery and equipment                                                                                                                                10% to 25%

Furniture, fixtures and fittings                                                                                                                                                  10%

Upon the disposal of an item of property, plant or equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the net 
carrying amount is recognised in the income statement and the unutilised portion of the revaluation surplus on that item is   
taken directly to retained profits.

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation (con't)
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

2. Significant Accounting Policies (con't)	

(h) Employee Benefits 

(ii)   Defined contribution plans  

(iii) Defined benefits plans  

The Company has a partly funded defined benefit Post-Employment Scheme ("Scheme") for its eligible employees. The 
Company's obligation under the Scheme is calculated using the Projected Unit Credit Method, through which the 
amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years is estimated.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested. The amount recognised 
in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations.

(i)  Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
enterprise and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

(i)    Sale of goods

Revenue relating to the sale of goods is recognised net of sales taxes and discounts upon the transfer of risks and 
rewards.

(ii)   Interest income

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield on the asset.

(iii)  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(iv)  Revenue from services

Revenue from services rendered is recognised net of services taxes and discounts as and when the services are 
performed.

(i)    Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees of the Company.  Short term accumulating compensated absences such 
as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future 
compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised 
when the absences occur.

(a) As required by law, the Company makes contributions to the Employees Provident Fund. Such contributions are        
     recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

(b) The Company has a funded defined contribution benefit Post-Employment scheme for certain executives who have  
     served the required number of years of service. Contributions are made to an approved benefit scheme operated by  
     by independent trustees in accordance with a trust deed. 
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

2. Significant Accounting Policies (con't)           	

(k)Impairment of Assets	 	

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, impairment is measured by comparing the carrying values of the 
assets with their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and value in use, which is 
measured by reference to discounted future cash flows.  



An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the income statement immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued 
amount. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of any unutilised previously 
recognised revaluation surplus for the same asset. Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when 
the impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.

(l) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has become a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are reported as expense or 
income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity. Financial 
instruments are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transaction. At each balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at exchange 
rates ruling at that date, unless hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts, in which case the rates specified in such 
forward contracts are used. Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at historical 
cost are translated using the historical rate as of the date of acquisition and non-monetary items which are carried at fair 
value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined.  



All exchange rate differences are taken to the income statement.



The exchange rates for every unit of foreign currency ruling at balance sheet date used are as follows:

United States Dollar 

Singapore Dollar  

Brunei Dollar   

Japanese Yen  

Euro 

2004
RM

3.80 

2.26 

2.22 

0.03 

4.65 

2003
RM

3.80

2.15

2.11

0.03

4.11

(j) Foreign currency transactions
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

2. Significant Accounting Policies (con't)

(l) Financial Instruments (con't)

     (i)   Other Non-Current Investments

Non-current investments other than investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses.  The policy for 
the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2 (k). 



On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in the 
income statement.

(ii)  Marketable securities

Marketable securities are carried at the lower of cost and market value, determined on an aggregate basis.  Cost is 
determined on the weighted average basis while market value is determined based on quoted market values.  Increases 
or decreases in the carrying amount of marketable securities are recognised in the income statement.  On disposal of 
marketable securities, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the 
income statement.

(iii) Receivables

Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. An estimate is made 
for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at the balance sheet date.

(iv) Payables

Payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services 
received.

(v)  Equity Instruments

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which 
they are declared. 

(m) Affiliated Companies

Affiliated companies refer to associated companies of the holding company.

Net realised foreign exchange gains       
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment       
Dividends from:       
   An associated company        
   Investment quoted in Malaysia       
Management fees       
Commission income       
Others

2004
RM

 156,056
 318,990

 129,360
 42,043

 108,000
 432,405

 80,400

1,267,254

2003
RM

 43,060
 283,740

 107,800
 42,042

 108,000
 213,481

 2,921

801,044

3. Revenue 
     
  
   

4. Other Operating Income
       	

Revenue of the Company is relating to the sale of goods and is recognised net of sales taxes and discounts upon the transfer of 
risks and rewards.
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5. Staff Costs

Wages and salaries       
Gratuity       
Pension costs - defined contribution plans       
Pension costs - defined benefit plans       
Social security costs       
Short term accumulating compensated absences       
Other staff related expenses      

2004
RM

 20,190,695
 60,000

 2,254,675
 729,171
 125,257
 389,567
 709,492

24,458,857

2003
RM

 
 18,515,934

 40,000
 1,555,331  

929,501
 117,354

 -  
 559,642

21,717,762

6. Profit From Operations

Profit from operations is stated after charging:-       
       
Auditors' remuneration:       
  Statutory audit       
  Other services       
Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 7)       
Allowance for doubtful debts       
Amortisation of club membership       
Property, plant and equipment written off

2004
RM

 30,000
 5,000

 245,000
 - 

 30,992
 360,232

2003
RM

 30,000
 5,000

 232,917
54,886
61,500

768,972

7. Directors' Remuneration 

Executive Directors:     
 Salaries and other emoluments     
 Pension costs - defined contribution plans     
 Fees     
 Gratuity     
 Bonus     
 Benefits-in-kind     
     
     
Non-Executive Directors:     
 Fees     
 Gratuity     
     
Total 

2004
RM

2,026,215
 235,824
150,000
 60,000

167,466
74,641

 2,714,146

175,000
 70,000

 245,000

 2,959,146

2003
RM

 1,388,363
 169,644
108,333
 40,000

 160,140
 93,018

 1,959,498

172,917
 60,000

 232,917

 2,192,415

Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is analysed 
below:

Executive Directors:   
 RM100,001 - RM150,000   
 RM150,001 - RM200,000   
 RM200,001 - RM250,000   
 RM250,001 - RM300,000   
 RM300,001 - RM350,000   
 RM400,001 - RM450,000   
 RM450,001 - RM500,000   
 RM550,001 - RM600,000   
   
Non-Executive Directors:   
 Below RM50,000   
 RM50,001 - RM100,000

2004

 - 
 - 
 - 
2 
 - 
 - 
2 
2 

5 
1 

2003

 1 
 1 
 3 
 1 
 1 
 1 
 - 
 - 

 5 
 1 

Number of Directors

Included in staff costs of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration amounting to RM2,639,505 (2003: RM1,866,480) 
as further disclosed in Note 7.
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

8. Taxation                

Tax expense for the year:     
  Income tax    
     
Deferred tax  (Note 22):     
  Relating to origination and reversal     
   of temporary differences    
     
Under / (over)provided in prior years:     
  Income tax

2004 
RM 

2,114,271 

  (83,992)

 56,961 

 2,087,240 

2003 
RM 

 3,856,000 

 (913,394)

 (221,288)

 2,721,318 

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective income tax rate of the Company is as follows:

Profit before taxation       
       
Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 28% (2002: 28%)       
Income not subject to tax       
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes       
Utilisation of current year's reinvestment allowances       
Under / (over) provision of income tax expense in prior years       
Tax expense for the year 

2004 
RM 

 15,232,591 

 4,265,125 
 (11,772)

 221,331 
 (2,444,405)

 56,961 

 2,087,240 

2003 
RM 

 
 14,894,448 

 4,170,445 
 (11,772)

 268,688 
 (1,484,755)

 (221,288)

 2,721,318 

9. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue during the financial year. 

Net profit for the year       
Weighted average number of     
 ordinary shares in issue        
       
Basic earnings per share (sen)

2004 
RM 

13,145,351 
60,798,534 

 21.6  

2003 
RM 

12,173,130 
60,798,534 

 20.0 

The comparative basic earnings per share has been restated to take into account the effect of the change in accounting policy 
on net profit for the year.

10. Dividends

First and final dividend of 4% less
28% taxation and 5% tax exempt              
(2003: 9% less 28% taxation  
paid on 29 September 2003)

       Net Dividends per share 
 2004                          2003

    Sen                             Sen

	     Amount 
        2004                           2003
          RM                              RM

   4,790,924                   3,939,745                      7.9                            6.5 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2004, of 
4% less 28% taxation and 5% tax exempt on 60,798,534 ordinary shares, amounting to a total dividend payable of 
RM4,790,924 (7.9 sen net per share) will be proposed for shareholders' approval. The financial statements for the current 
financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in 
shareholders' equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 March 2005.
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't) 

Cost / Valuation
     
At 1 April 2003  
Additions
Disposals
Written off
At 31 March 2004   
   
Representing:   
  
At cost   
At valuation   

    
Accumulated 
 depreciation and  
 impairment losses   
    
At 1 April 2003 
Charge for the year
Disposals
Written off   
At 31 March 2004   
    
Net Book Value   
    
At 31 March 2004 
At cost  
At valuation   
    
  
At 31 March 2003
At cost 
At valuation   

 Depreciation charge   
   for 2003   
    

 Land and    
buildings*

 RM

48,787,535
10,891,427

-
-

59,678,962
 

26,088,962
33,590,000
59,678,962

23,518,098
1,477,678

-
-

24,995,776

14,982,152
19,701,034
34,683,183

5,258,133
20,011,304
25,269,437

929,883

11. Property, Plant And Equipment 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 RM 

6,322,350 
797,496 

(807,804)
- 

6,312,042 
 

6,312,042 
- 

6,312,042 

4,398,053 
1,065,372 

(807,804)
- 

4,655,621 

1,656,421 
- 

1,656,421 

1,924,297 
- 

1,924,297 

1,055,644 

  Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment 

 RM 

144,792,837 
7,456,878 

- 
(1,484,870)

150,764,845 
 

150,764,845 
- 

150,764,845 

117,347,081 
6,942,193 

- 
(1,126,184)

123,163,090 

27,601,755 
- 

27,601,755 

27,445,756 
- 

27,445,756 

8,564,276 

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and 
fittings 

 RM 

2,027,644 
80,360 

(355)
(26,920)

2,080,729 
 

2,080,729 
- 

2,080,729 

1,434,647 
119,620 

(320)
(25,374)

1,528,573 

552,156 
- 

552,156 

592,997 
- 

592,997 

115,650 

 Total 
 RM 

201,930,366 
25,344,311 

(808,159)
(1,511,790)

224,954,728 
 

191,364,728 
33,590,000 

224,954,728 

146,697,879 
9,604,863 
(808,124)

(1,151,558)
154,343,060 

50,910,634 
19,701,034 
70,611,668 

35,221,183 
20,011,304 
55,232,487 

10,665,453 

Capital
Work-

in-
progress

 RM

-
6,118,150

-
-

6,118,150
 

6,118,150
-

6,118,150

-
-
-
-

-

6,118,150
-

6,118,150

-
-
-

-
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

11. Property, Plant And Equipment (con't)       

* Land and buildings   
         
    

 Cost / Valuation
     
 At 1 April 2003
   
 Additions 
  
 At 31 March 2004   
    

 Representing:   
    
 At cost   

 At valuation   
    
    
 

Accumulated Depreciation      

 At 1 April 2003 
  
 Charge for the year   

 At 31 March 2004   
    

 Net Book Value   
    
 At 31 March 2004
   
 At cost  
 
 At valuation   
    
    
 

 At 31 March 2003
   
 At cost 
  
 At valuation   
    
    
 
 
 Depreciation charge   
   for 2003   
    

 Freehold 
 land 
 RM 

 1,059,200
 

 -
 

 1,059,200
 

 - 

 1,059,200

 1,059,200

 -
 

 -

 -

 
-

 1,059,200

 1,059,200

 -
 

 1,059,200
 

 1,059,200
 

 -

 Long term 
 leasehold 

 land 
 RM 

 27,420,992
 

 3,308,777
 

 30,729,769
 

 6,192,805
 

 24,536,964
 

 30,729,769

 6,050,248
 

 399,432
 

 6,449,680

 
5,638,255

 
 18,641,834

 
 24,280,089

 

 2,418,640

 18,952,104

 21,370,744

 345,190

 Buildings 
 RM 

 20,307,343
 

 7,582,650
 

 27,889,993

 19,896,157
 

 7,993,836
 

 27,889,993
 

 17,467,850
 

 1,078,246
 

 18,546,096
 

 
9,343,897

 
 -
 

 9,343,897
 

 2,839,493
 

 -
 

 2,839,493

 584,693

 Total 
 RM 

 48,787,535
 

 10,891,427
 

 59,678,962

 26,088,962
 

 33,590,000
 

 59,678,962
 

 23,518,098
 

 1,477,678

 24,995,776
 

 
14,982,152

 
 19,701,034

 
 34,683,186

 

 5,258,133
 

 20,011,304
 

 25,269,437

 929,883
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

11. Property, Plant And Equipment (con't)     
(a) Included in the above are the following property, plant and equipment which have been fully depreciated but are still in use:

At cost / valuation:     
Land and buildings    
Motor vehicles    
Plant, machinery and equipment    
Furniture, fixtures and fittings    

 2004 
 RM 

 16,316,453 
 2,932,768 

 87,421,787 
 893,040 

 
107,564,048 

 2003 
 RM 

 15,045,108 
 2,858,357 

 85,997,395 
 884,991 

 
104,785,851 

The freehold and leasehold land and buildings were revalued in 1984 by an independent professional valuer, as approved 
by the relevant authorities and based on open market value on the existing use basis. The surplus arising from the 
revaluation has been transferred to the capital reserves account in 1985.


The Directors were unable to disclose the net book value of the revalued land and buildings had it been carried at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation due to lack of historical records.

Long term leasehold land recorded at valuation of RM2,868,684 (2003: RM2,868,684) and at cost of RM6,192,805 
(2003: RM2,884,028) have restriction in the transfer of titles or mortgages which require approval by the relevant 
authorities.

Unquoted shares in associated companies, at cost
     

Quoted shares in a Malaysian corporation, at cost     

Transferable club memberships     

    
Market value of quoted shares in Malaysia     

Had the equity method of accounting been applied, the carrying amount of investment in associated companies would have 
been as follows:

2004
RM

1,678,751
 

2,173,125

268,000

4,119,876

3,783,853

2004
RM

1,678,751
 

1,122,056

268,000

3,068,807

2,018,054

	     
Investment in associated companies,at cost     
Share of post-acquisition profits     
     
     
Represented by:        
  Share of net assets  
     
  Discount on acquisition     
     

2004
RM

1,678,751
8,543,189

 
10,221,940

13,093,188

(2,871,248)

10,221,940 

2003
RM

1,678,751
8,250,054

9,928,805

12,800,053

(2,871,248)

9,928,805

12. Investments     

(b)

(c)
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

12. Investments (con't)     

Had the equity method of accounting been applied, the income statement of the Company would have been as follows:

Profit before taxation and share      
   of profits of associated companies     
 
Share of profit of associated companies     
 
Profit before taxation     
 
Taxation      
   
   Company     
   
   Associated companies 

          
 
Profit after taxation     

RM

(2,087,240)

(176,542)

RM

15,232,591
 

469,677

15,702,268

(2,263,782)

13,438,486

RM

(2,768,712)

(127,492)

RM

14,894,448
 

457,287

15,351,735

(2,896,204)

12,455,531

20032004

The associated companies are:

Name of 
Company

Country of 
Incorporation

Effective Interests (%)

2004                 2003
Financial 
Year End

Principal 
Activities

Malaysia Ve-Tsin  
     Manufacturing Co. Bhd.  
  

Ajinomoto (Singapore)   
     Pte. Ltd.  
  

Nee Seng Ngeng & Sons   
     Sago Industries    
     Sdn. Bhd.  

Malaysia

Singapore

Malaysia

49 

50 

30 

49 

50 

30 

31 December

31 March

31 December

Manufacturer of 
  monosodium 
  glutamate

Distributor of 
  monosodium 
  glutamate

Producer of
  sago starch

As at 31 March 2004, Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd. hold 313,458 shares representing 0.52% equity interest in the 
Company.

At cost:  
   Raw materials

   Consumables

   Work-in-progress  

   Finished goods  

   Goods-in-transit  

2004
RM

9,027,066
 

2,720,269

4,108,139
 

11,024,808
 

41,150
 

26,921,432

2003
RM

10,216,671
 

1,830,176

3,913,121
 

7,787,530
 

257,516
 

24,005,014
 

13. Inventories    
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

14. Trade Receivables     

Trade receivables     
Allowance for doubtful debts     
      
     

Included in trade receivables are amounts: 
   
  Due from affiliated companies      
  Due from fellow subsidiaries     
  Due from associated companies     

2004 
RM 

20,922,168 
(132,023)

20,790,145 

472,581 
629,486 

1,082,881 
 

2,184,948 

2003 
RM 

17,825,657 
(132,023)

17,693,634 

798,180 
748,236 

1,142,739 

2,689,155 

The Company's normal trade credit term ranges from 14 days to 90 days. Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a 
case-by-case basis.


As at the balance sheet date, the Company has a significant concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding balances 
from 2 (2003: 2) customers representing approximately 37% (2003: 44%) of the total trade receivables. 


The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest free and credit terms ranges from 30 days to 90 days 
(2003: 30 days to 90 days).

Deposits  
Prepayments  
Sundry receivables  

2004
RM

251,434
1,529,793
1,748,413

3,529,640

2003
RM

222,744
689,070

1,470,350
 

2,382,164

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single debtor or groups of 
debtors.

Cash on hand and at banks   
Deposits with licensed banks   

2004
RM

2,860,771
30,717,546

 
33,578,317

2003
RM

5,915,260
43,342,643

49,257,903
 

The weighted average effective interest rates of the deposits with licensed banks at the balance sheet date was 2.6% 
(2003: 2.6%) per annum.


The average maturities of the deposits with licensed banks as at the end of the financial year were 24 days (2003: 30 days).

15. Other Receivebles

16. Cash And Cash Equivalents

17. Trade Payables

Included in trade payables are amounts:        
  Due to holding company     
  Due to fellow subsidiaries     
  Due to affiliated companies     

2004
RM

 23,582
 153,254
 315,906

 
 492,742

2003
RM

 37,057
 1,155,770

 388,730
 

 1,581,557

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Company ranges from 30 to 60 days.
The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest free and have credit term of 30 days.
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

18. Other Payables     

	    
 Accrued expenses   
 Sundry payables   
 Due to holding company   

2004
RM

1,869,939
2,296,779

987,382
 

5,154,100

2003
RM

1,806,269
4,416,184

889,159
 

7,111,612

The amount due to holding company is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.



	    
    
    
 Authorised:   
   At beginning of year   
   Created during the year
   
 At end of year   
    
 Issued and fully paid:   
   At beginning / end of year   
   Issued and paid up during the year   

	  Number of Ordinary 
   Shares of RM1 Each 

2004                  2003

 80,000,000 
 - 

 
80,000,000 

 60,798,534 
 - 

 
60,798,534 

 60,000,000
 20,000,000

 
80,000,000

 40,532,356
 20,266,178

 
60,798,534

2004

RM

 80,000,000
 -
 

80,000,000

 60,798,534
 -
 

60,798,534

2003

RM

60,000,000
 20,000,000

 
80,000,000

 40,532,356
 20,266,178

 
60,798,534

As at 31 March 2004, the Company has tax exempt profits available for distribution of approximately RM66,618,000
(2003: RM57,888,000), subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Board.


The Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and the balance in the tax exempt 
income account to frank the payment of dividends out of its entire retained profits as at 31 March 2004.

19. Share Capital     

20. Retained Profits     

Amount

45

Laporan Tahunan 2004 A
nnual Report 



Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

21. Post-Employment Benefit Obligations     

The Company operates a partly funded, Post-Employment Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”) for its eligible employees. Under 
the Scheme, eligible employees are entitled to post-employment benefits varying at 6% and 10% on aggregate basic salaries 
of eligible staff and the number of completed years of service. Interest is accrued at 6% per annum on these benefits.



At 1 April      
Amount recognised in the income statement     
Less: Contributions paid     
At 31 March      

2004 
RM 

3,574,324 
729,171 

(666,118)
3,637,377 

2003 
RM 

3,156,995 
929,501 

(512,172)
3,574,324 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

Present value of defined benefit obligation recognised as        
    liabilities in the balance sheet       

 Analysed as:  
    Current  
    Non-current  

	
 2004

 RM
 

 3,637,377
 
 

 392,151

 3,245,226

 3,637,377

2003
RM

3,574,324

502,592
3,071,732
3,574,324

The amounts recognised in the income statements are as follows:

	   
Current service cost   
Interest cost   

2004
RM

642,492
86,679

729,171

2003
RM

818,781
110,720
929,501

The above amounts charged to the income statements has been included in staff cost, as disclosed in Note 5 of the financial 
statements.

The movements during the financial year in the amount recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

22. Deferred Tax Liabilities

At 1 April      
Transfer to income statement (Note 8)     
At 31 March      
     

2004 
RM 

5,175,467 
(83,992)

5,091,475 

2003 
RM 

(Restated)
6,088,861 
(913,394)

5,175,467 

The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year prior to offsetting are as 
follows:

Retirement
Benefit

Obligations
RM

1,000,811
17,655

1,018,466

Provision
for

Liabilities
RM

 21,598
109,079
130,677

Total
RM

1,022,409
126,734

1,149,143

	     
At 1 April 2003     
Recognised in the income statement     
At 31 March 2004     

Revaluation 
RM 

 2,876,467 
 (47,394)

2,829,073 

	     

At 1 April 2003     
Recognised in the income statement     
At 31 March 2004     

Accelerated
Capital

Allowances
RM

 3,321,409
90,136

3,411,545

Total
RM

6,197,876
42,742

6,240,618

Deferred Tax Assets:

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

23. Changes In Accounting Policies And Prior Year Adjustments 

(a) Changes in Accounting Policies    

During the financial year, the Company applied two new MASB Standards effective from 1 April 2003, and accordingly 
modified certain accounting policies. The changes in accounting policies in relation to income tax which resulted in 
prior year adjustments is discussed below:


MASB 25: Income Taxes
Under MASB 25, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Previously, deferred tax 
liabilities were provided for on account of timing differences only to the extent that a tax liability was expected to 
materialise in the foreseeable future. 


In addition, MASB 25 allowed enterprise to transfer each year from revaluation surplus to retained earnings an amount 
equal to the difference between the depreciation on a revalued asset and the depreciation based on the cost of that 
asset. The amount transferred is net of any related deferred tax.

MASB 29: Employee Benefits
The adoption of MASB 29 has resulted in additional disclosures as in Note 21 which were not included in the prior 
year.
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23. Changes In Accounting Policies And Prior Year Adjustments (con't)

The changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively and comparatives have been restated. The effects of 
changes in accounting policies are as follows:

	       
 Effects on retained profits:      
   At 1 April, as previously stated      
   Effects of adopting MASB 25      
   At 1 April, as restated      
       
 Effects on revaluation reserves:      
   At 1 April, as previously stated      
   Effects of adopting MASB 25      
   At 1 April, as restated      
       
 Effects on net profit for the year:      
   Net profit before changes in accounting policies      
   Effects of adopting MASB 25      
   Net profit for the year      
       

2004 
RM 

 42,567,141 
 7,577,023 

 50,144,164 

 18,324,771 
 (10,453,490)

 7,871,281 

 13,097,957 
 47,394 

 13,145,351 

2003 
RM 

53,917,746 
7,407,758 

 61,325,504 

18,324,771 
 (10,331,619)

 7,993,152 

12,125,736 
47,394 

 12,173,130 

Comparative amount as at 31 March 2003 have been restated as follows:

Previously
Stated

RM

 2,299,000

Adjustments
RM

 2,876,467

Restated
RM

 5,175,467Deferred tax liabilities  

	      
 Capital expenditure:      
   Approved and contracted for:    
    Property, plant and equipment   
      
   Approved but not contracted for:    
    Property, plant and equipment   
      

2004
RM

 2,923,503

 23,331,497
 26,255,000

2003
RM

 11,303,734

 20,371,266
 31,675,000

(b) Prior Year Adjustments

24. Commitments
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Notes To The Financial Statements       
31 March 2004 (con't)    

25. Significant Related Party Transactions       

(a) Transactions with associated companies:      
       

     Sales to Ajinomoto (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.      

     Sales to Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.      

     Purchases from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.      

     Purchases from Ajinomoto (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.      

     Purchases from Nee Seng Ngeng & Sons Sago Industries Sdn. Bhd.      

     Management fees received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.      

     Dividend received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.      

 2004
RM

3,314,697

1,062,525

2,323,028

1,053,641 

- 

108,000

129,360

2003
RM

3,325,261

1,539,711

1,957,460

1,196,647

826,464

108,000

107,799

(b) Transactions with affiliated companies:      
       

     Management fees received from Malaysia Packaging Ind. Bhd.      

     Purchases from Malaysia Packaging Ind. Bhd.      

     Dividend received from Malaysia Packaging Ind. Bhd.       

 - 

3,517,766

42,043

8,000

3,700,326

42,043

(c) Transactions with holding company and its subsidiaries*:      
       

     Commission income      

     Royalties payable      

     Sales      

     Purchases      

424,761

3,679,545

4,545,429

20,642,809

195,823

3,421,520

4,082,062

16,560,696

* Comprises Ajinomoto Co. Inc. and its subsidiaries, excluding Ajinomoto (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 

The directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of business and 

have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from that obtainable in transactions with 

unrelated parties.

26. Subsequent Event   

On 7 April 2004, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose a parcel of land held under Geran 

Mukim 119, Lot No. 11125, Mukim Ampang, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan for a cash consideration of RM4,750,000. 
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

27. Comparative Figures

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The presentation and classification of items in the current year financial statements have been consistent with the previous 
financial year except that certain comparative amounts have been adjusted as a result of changes in accounting policies as 
disclosed in Note 2 (a) and Note 23 or have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

The Company’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the 
development of the Company’s businesses whilst managing its foreign exchange, liquidity and credit risks. The Company 
operates within clearly defined guidelines that are approved by the Board and the Company’s policy is not to engage in 
speculative transactions.

28. Financial Instruments

The Company had no substantial long-term interest-bearing assets as at 31 March 2004. The investments in financial assets 
are mainly short term in nature and they are not held for speculative purposes but have been mostly placed in fixed 
deposits or occasionally, in short term commercial papers which yield better returns than cash at bank. 


The information on maturity dates and effective interest rates of financial assets is disclosed in its respective note.

(b) Interest Rate Risk

The Company operates internationally and is exposed to various currencies, mainly Japanese Yen, United States Dollar, 
Euro, Brunei Dollar and Singapore Dollar. Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities together with expected cash 
flows from highly probable purchases and sales give rise to foreign exchange exposures.

Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the operating entities are kept 
to an acceptable level. Material foreign currency transaction exposures are hedged, mainly with derivative financial 
instruments such as short-term forward foreign currency contracts.  

(c) Foreign Exchange Risk 

The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company that are not denominated in their functional 
currencies are as follows:


As at balance sheet date, the Company entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to currency 
fluctuations affecting certain foreign currency denominated payables amounted to RM288,000 (2003: Nil) equivalent to 
Euro 67,000 (2003: Nil) and have a maturity period of within 2 months.


All gains or losses on foreign exchange contracts are recognised as income or expenses upon realisation. 

Functional

Currency

At 31 March 2004

Ringgit  Malaysia 

At 31 March 2003

Ringgit  Malaysia

United States

Dollar

RM

5,493,167

3,594,198

Brunei

Dollar

RM

643,563

303,103

Singapore

Dollar

RM

835,133

1,022,062

Euro

RM

-

23,793

Japanese

Yen

RM

(113,172)

(40,071)

Total 

RM

6,858,690

4,903,085

Net Financial Assets / (Liabilities) Held in Non-Functional Currency
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Notes To The Financial Statement
31 March 2004 (con't)

28. Financial Instruments (con't)

The Company actively manages its operating cash flows. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Company 
maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements.

(d) Liquidity Risk  

Credit risks, or the risk of counter parties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and 
monitoring procedures. Credit risks are minimised and monitored via strictly limiting the Company’s associations to 
business partners with high creditworthiness. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis via Company 
management reporting procedures.  


As at the balance sheet date, the Company has a significant concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding 
balances from 2 (2003: 2) customers representing approximately 37% (2003: 44%) of the total trade receivables. 

(e) Credit Risk 

The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities which are not carried at fair value on the balance 
sheet of the Company as at the end of the financial year are represented as follows:

(f) Fair Values 

Financial Assets  
Non-current unquoted shares  
Marketable securities  
Transferable club   
  memberships  
  
Financial Liabilities  
Amounts due to holding  
  company  

Carrying
Amount

RM

 1,678,751 
 2,173,125 

 268,000 

987,382 

Fair
Value

RM

*
3,783,853

*

#

Carrying
Amount

RM

1,678,751
1,122,056

268,000

889,159

Fair
Value

RM

*
2,018,054

*

#

The nominal / notional amounts and net fair value of financial instruments not recognised in the balance sheet of the 
Company as at the end of the financial year are:

Contingent liabilities  
Forward foreign exchange contracts  

Notional
Amount

RM

 259,173 
 288,000 

Fair
Value

RM

^
287,623 

Carrying
Amount

RM

249,887 
-

Fair
Value

RM

^
- 

It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of contingent liabilities reliably due to the uncertainties of timing, costs 
and eventual outcome.

2004 2003

It is not practical to estimate the fair value of the Company’s non-current unquoted shares and transferable club 
memberships because of the lack of quoted market prices and the inability to estimate fair value without incurring 
excessive costs.



*

It is also not practical to estimate the fair values of amounts due to / from related corporations due principally to a 
lack of fixed repayment term entered by the parties involved and without incurring excessive costs.

#

^

2004 2003
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28. Financial Instruments (con't)

(f) Fair Values (con't) 

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following classes of financial 
instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Trade and Other Receivables / Payables
         
The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of these financial instruments.  
                 
Marketable securities 
        
The fair value of quoted shares is determined by reference to stock exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of 
the business on the balance sheet date.
              
Derivative Financial Instruments 
        
The fair value of a forward foreign currency contract is the amount that would be payable or receivable on termination 
of the outstanding position arising and is determined by reference to the difference between the contracted rate and 
forward exchange rate as at the balance sheet date applied to a contract of similar quantum and maturity profile. 
            

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Segmental reporting by business activities has not been prepared as the Company is principally engaged only in the 
manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products.  

Segmental reporting by geographical regions has been prepared for revenue, the Company’s location of assets are 
predominantly in Malaysia.

29. Segmental Information

(a) Business Segment 

(b) Geographical Segment 
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Revenue

2004

2003

Malaysia

127,509,861

117,083,457

Middle East

11,606,253

10,186,403

Other Asian Countries

19,653,788

19,144,727

Others

5,355,920

4,594,657

Total 

164,125,822

151,009,244
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